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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

_________________________________________________________________ X
DEVENDRA SHUKLA,
Plaintiff,
-against NOT FOR PUBLICATION
MEMORANDUM & ORDER
SAT PRAKASH SHARMA, individually 07€V-2972 (CBA)(CLP)
and as Director of VISHVA SEVA ASHRAM
of NEW YORK, et al.,
Defendans.
_________________________________________________________________ X

AMON, Chief United States District Judge

Between December 6, 2010 and December 15, 2010, the Court held a jury tinial in
aboveeaptioned action On Decembr 15, 2010, the jury returned a verdict, finding, by a
prepoxderance of the evidence, thd¢fendard Sat Prakash Sharn{égSat Sharma’) Geeta
Sharma, and the Vishva Seva Ashram of New YtHhe Ashram” or “the Templejvere liable
for forced labor and trafficking for the purpose of involuntary servitude or forced labejury
also foundfor defendarg on a counteclaim, that plaintiff libeled thedefendarg. The jury
awarded$250,000.00 in compensatory damades the forced labor claim, $750,000.00 in
compensatory damagéar the trafficking claim,and $2.5 million in punitive damagefr the
trafficking claim The jury awarded $300,000.00 in compensatory damages to Sat Sharma,
$150,000.00 to Geeta Sharma, and $50,000.00 tasheaxmfor thelibel claim. Defendants Sat
Sharma, Geeta Shrama, and the Ashmam move for judgment as a matter of lawder Fed. R.
Civ. P. 500r, alternatively, a new trial and reduced damages pursubetitd?. Civ. P. 59.

l. Motion of Judgment as a Matter of Law
Defendants move for judgmeas a matter of law on each piaintiff's claims arguing

that: (1) m reasonable juror could conclude that a reasonable person gblaimiff’s
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background and circumstances would continue to perform labor or services in order to avoid the
alleged “serious harm;” (2) no reasonable juror could concludedéfanhdantsalleged acts
actually causeglaintiff to perform any labr or services; (3) certain pfaintiff’'s allegations are
too vague for agasonable juror to conclude that the allegations are either “threats” or d¢enstitu
“serious harm;” (4) certain of the alleged threats cannot be attributec t8hdwrmas or the
Ashram or werenot directed aplaintiff; and (5) plaintiff’s alleged cleaningluties were not
forced labor but were in fact part of his contractual obligations.

Under Rule 50, “[jJudgment as a matter of law is proper when ‘a party has been fully
heard on an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a bbagowyeao find

for that party on that issué.United States v. Space Hunters, Inc., 429 F.3d 416, 428 (2d Cir.

2005) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(a)(1))The court cannot assess the weight of conflicting
evidence, pass on the credibility of the witneseesubstitute its judgment for that of the jury.”

Space Hunters, Inc429 F.3d at 429 (internal quotation marks and citation omittétus, a

Rule 50 motion may be granted only if “the evidence, viewed in the light most favacathle
opposing party,s insufficient to permit a reasorlabjuror to find in her favor.”Galdiert

Ambrosini v. Nat'l Realty & Dev. Corp., 136 F.3d 276, 289 (2d €898). In making its

evaluation, the court should “review all of the evidence in the récordlbert v.Queens Col|

242 F.3d 58, 70 (2d Cir. 2001)

Defendants argue that the evidence introduced at trial is lagalifficient to sustain a
finding of liability for forced labor, 18 U.S.C § 1589, and trafficking for the purpose oédorc
labor or involuntary servitude, 18 U.S.C. § 15860der the Trafficking Victims Protection Act
(“TVPA”") . In arguing that motiorjefendarg break the evidence in the record into categories,

explaining why each category does not itself support the verdiet. a Rule 50(b) mabn,



however,the Courtcannotisolate bits of evidence, but must instéatw the evidence as a
whole . . . .” Tolbert 242 F.3d at 70 (remanding for failure to consider evidence as a whole).
For the reasons stated below, the Court fihdsthe evideceas a wholetaken in lhe light most
favorable toplaintiff, is sufficient tosupport the jury’s verdicts.

1. Forced Labor

Civil liability for forced labor under 18 U.S.C. 1589 reqgsira finding by a
preponderance of the evidenttat (1) the dfendantobtained the labor or services of another
person; (2) the defendant did so through one of the following prohibited means (a&hthro
serious harm or threats of serious harm to . . . that person or any other person; or (b) through a
scheme, plan or patteintended to cause the person to believe thatpssformance would
result in serious harm to. . that person or any other person; or (c) through the abuse or
threatened abuse of the law or the legal process; and (3) the defendant actedlknduviited

States v. Sabhnani, 539 F. Supp. 2d 617, 629 (E.D.N.Y. 2008).

“Serious harm” includes threats of any consequences, whether physical gtysical,
that are sufficient under all of the surrounding circumstances to compekwre a reasonable
person in the same situation to provide or to continue providing labor or s€tvidaged States
v. Bradley, 390 F.3d 145, 151 (1st Cir. 2004), vacated on sentencing grounds, 545 U.S. 1101
(2005) see alsd8 U.S.C. § 1589, as amended by Pub. L. 110-48@,IT, § 222(b)(3) Dec. 23,
2008, 122 Stat. 5068 (codifying existing case law). “Abuse of the law or legal procéiss” is
useof threats of legal action, whether administrative, civil, or criminal, in any mamrier any
purpose for which the law was not designed in order to coerce someone into working against tha

person’s will. United States v. GargiaNo. 02CR-110S-01 2003 WL 22956917, at *8

(W.D.N.Y. Dec. 2, 2003)Jquoting Restatement (Second) of Tort6&) see alsal8 U.S.C.



81589, as amended BBub.L. 110457, Title 1l, 8 222(b)(3), Dec. 23, 2008, 122 Stat. 5068
(codifying existing case law).

A worker’'s “employment and living conditions” may provide support for a jury’s
conclusion that a defendant’s threats “plausibly . . . compelledittim[] to serve.” United

Statesv. Farrell 563 F.3d 364, 373 (8th Cir. 2009) (quotations omitteek; alsdJnited States v.

Veerapo] 312 F.3d 11281130-21(9th Cir. 2002) (considering working conditions, including
“excessive working houysin andyzing involuntary servitude claimBabhnani539 F. Supp. 2d

at 620 (discussing working conditions). Thus, for example, where a worker testifiedsthat hi
rigorous work schedule “precluded sleep at least four times a week,” the céartret found

that fact relevant to the question of whether the victim’s labor was compelled. 563 &7/3d a

Defendants do not dispute that they obtaipkdntiff's labor or services. Nor is there
any dispute, fopurposes of this motion, thdefendarg acted knowingly. Insteadefendarg
challenge the sufficiency of tHearmat issue. Here, viewing all of the faah the light most
favorable toplaintiff, theharm orthreatened harrallegedwas sufficient for a @sonable jury to
conclude thaplaintiff was subjected to forced labor.

According toplaintiff’s testimony, he was first approached in InoyeSatya Dev Sharma
(“Satya Dev”),defendanSat Sharma'’s brothein January or February of 2000 about coming to
the United Statto work at the Aglam. (Tr. 49). Sat’'s brother made certain assurances to
plaintiff about his living conditions and salaiif.r. 51). When he arrivedplaintiff found that
these assurances wenetrue The room he was promised turned out to be a cramped, rdirty,

infested, windowless spaagxt to a public bathroom. (Tr59-61 458. And, although the

! Defendants could not be held liable for any conduct prior to the enactmémwt ofafficking Victims Protection
Reauthorization Act in late 2003, which added a civil cause of action. Mhe@s instructed as such. As the jury
was also instructed, hawer, the evidence can be considered as backgroundoateixic for the a#bged post
amendmentonduct.
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veracity of this claim iscontestedplaintiff claims that his bed was positioned dirediblow a
truncated pipe. (Tr. 60).

Plaintiff testified that throughout his tireg theTemple his typical work day began at
5:00a.m.and ended at 10:00.m (Tr. 9899). He testified that he would not be abledat
dinner until after 11:0@.m. (Tr. 99. In addition to his responsibilities as priest, the Sharmas
required him to perform janitorial work. He would clean the basement and bathroom, provide
maintenance for th€emple and wash the dishes, pans, and pots. (Tr. B@ was put to work
painting several apartments on the second floor of émeplethatwere rented out to tenants (Tr.
104-05), and wasgold to do the plumbing. (Tr. 105 Additionally, plaintiff testified that over
the course of the seven years he lived at the Temple, Sam&put him to work doing
corstruction and yard work #te Shamas house. (Tr. 103).

According toplaintiff, the defendantalsorestricted hisfreedom and privacyHe was
under strict instructions to report to Geeta Sharma \whdthappened every day. (Tr. )98
Plaintiff alsotestified that at least one of his plgconversations with his wife was recorded and
played back to hinby anotherof Sat Sharma’erothers. (Tr. 220-21).

Plaintiff testified that when he first arrived the United States, the Sharmas confiscated
his passport. (Tr. 156see alsoTr. 41419, 430, 461, 476, 5602 (testimony of other
witnesseg) According to plaintiff, the passport was not returned until June 2007 when he
decided to leave theemple and went to the police. (B7,162, 16568). Plaintiff testified that
in 2006, Geet&harma informed him that his residence in the UrBdes was not legal. (Tr.
153). He testified that subsequently, Geeta Sharma and Sa&ya Sat Sharma’s brother,
warned him‘that they own bars and they are friends with judges,tttepolice comnssioner

comes to theibar and that if plaintiff] took a step in the wrondirection, just like he sent



[plaintiff’s] brother away, he will havglaintiff] sent avay, just like that.” (Tr. 154).

Plaintiff further testifed that in April or May 2007defendarg took his possessions. He
explained that one night, from around 7@én.to 10:00p.m, Sat Sharma took him to eohhe
Depot. (Tr. 133 When they returnedhey found the door ajar, apdhintiff’s personal effects,
including his computer and cell phorigd been removed. (Tr. 1:33). Although the incidnt
appeared to be a burglaplaintiff then found his belongings in a garbage bagvetere in the
Temple (Tr. 133. Plaintiff told Sat Sharma that they should call the police, but Sharma
responded that it was alreadyotlate in the night. (Tr. 136 Satsaid he would take the bag
home with him for fingerprinting. (Tr. 136 Plaintiff testified that he did not get his telephone
back until he confronted the Sharmas and left #i@dlein June. (Tr. 136).

One of the items taken fromlaintiff at the time of the alleged burglary was atdgap
computer. (Tr. 136 The computer was lent to him bydevotee, Amit Buree. (Tr. 136
Plaintiff testified thatafter Sat Sharma togiaintiff’'s possessions, Buree told Sat Sharma that
the canputer in fact belonged to hir(ilr. 137). Plaintiff testified that when Buree spoke to Sat
Sharma, the following occurred in his present&lhey were both, Mr. Sharma and Mrs.
Sharma, they were yelling Amnit there and accusing him for his courage in making a gift to me.
And both of them, Mr. Sharas son is also Amit, they together beat up on the other Amit.” (Tr.
138).

Crediting plaintiffs allegations, as it must, the Court now turns to their legécmirfcy.

The threabf deportation may itself constitute a threat sufficient to satisfgeleend element of

forced labor United States v. Calimlim538 F.3d 706, 713 (7th Cir. 200&ee alsdUnited

States v. Kozminski, 487 U.S. 931, 948988) (“[T] hreatening .. . an immigrant with

deportation could constitute the threat of legal coercion that induces involuntatydse even



though such a threat made to an adult citizen of normal intelligence would be too ibipléusi
produce involuntary servite’). In Calimlim, the dfendantsretained the victim's passport
never informed the victinthat they were themselves breaking the law by employing her, and
never offered to regularize her presence in the United States. The court eskpleatthe
defendant’s“vague warning that someone might report [the victim] and their false statements
that they were the only ones who lawfully could employ her could reasonabfigwed as a
scheme to make her believe that she or her family would be harmed if she taadeto*[That

is all the jury needed to convictCalimlin, 538 F.3d at 713.

Defendants argue that the threat of depiomatvas not sufficient becaugdaintiff
testified that he wanted to return to Indi@r. 153. But returning to Indidawfully and being
subjected to deportationeaclearly distinguishable. Adaintiff himself testified,’l came from
India here not to get arrested here.” (Tr. 193gfendants also argue that because Geeta Sharma
is an immigrant with a language barrié is not plausible that she was sufficiently connected to
authorities that she coulthvehadplaintiff sent away.But it was not unreasonable, considering
his background and circumstancésat plaintifflacked the courage to call her blu#nd even if
plaintiff did recognize Geeta’s specific threat as puffeaayeasonable persoaf plaintiff’'s
background and circumstanassuld still fear that Geeta Sharma might contact the authorities if
plaintiff wasuncooperative.

Defendants also argue thatreasonable person plaintiff’'s circumstances would not
have been compelled to continue to provide labor or services. Defendants attempt to
characterizeplaintiff as a community leader who could easily turn to his congregants for help, as
indeed he did in 2007 But defendarg again failfully to appreciatethat the jury could have

consideredplaintiff’'s background and circumstanceslThe jury could have concluded that



plaintiff was an immigrant without his passport, thathad no moneyandthat that hedid not
speak EnglishUnder the circumstancesraionaljury could find that aeasonable individual in
plaintiff’s position wouldfeel compelled to provide the labor and services in question.

2. Trafficking

Defendants weralsofound liable fortrafficking plaintiff for forced labor or involuntary
servitude. An individual has committed trafficking, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1590, where that
person “knowingly recruits, harbors, transports, provides, or obtains by any meansrsamy pe
for labor or servicegfor the purpose of forced labor or involuntary servitude].” Samirah v.
Sabhnani772 F. Supp. 2d 437, 448 (E.D.N.Y. 201D¢fendants do not dispute, for purposes of
this motion that they knowingly harboreplaintiff. As the Court has a&ady found that a
reasonable jury coulfind thatdefendardg subjectegblaintiff to forced labor, the Court finds that
the elements of trafficking are satisfied.

I. Motion for a New Trialas to Liability

Defendand next move for a new trial pursuant to FedldRale of Civil Procedure 59.
Defendants argue that they are entitled to a new trial becaug@aifif)ff’s testimony wasn
part perjured; (2) trial counsel failed tatroduce certain evidence; (Blaintiff’'s testimony was
not credible; and (4) the jury’s verdict was inconsistent.

Under Rule 59(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, “[tlhe court may, on motion,
grant a new trial on all or some tife issues-and to any party. .for any reason for which a
new trial has heretofore been granted in an action at law in federal cbed.R. Civ. P. 59(a).
A court “has significant discretion in deciding whether to grant a Ruledd@mfor a new trial.”

Manganiello v. Agostini, 2008 WL 5159776, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (citing Amato v. City of

Saratoga Springd.70 F.3d 311, 314 (2d Cit999)). Unlike a Rule 50 motion, which calls upon




a court to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict winnerrtacoasidering
a Rule 59 motion “may independently weigh the evidenick."Nonetheless, a court should not
grant a new trial unless the “court determines that, in its independent judgneepurytthas

reached a seriously erroneous result or [its] verdict is a miscarriageio¢ justlimely v. City

of New York 414 F.3d 381, 392 (2d Cir. 2005) (internal quotation marks omitted).

1. Plaintiff's Testimony

Defendantxontendthat they are mtitled to a new trial becaugdaintiff’'s testimony was
perjured. Defendan@rguethat plaintiff perjured himself when he stated that he never received
any salary for the work he performed, that he was too “mortally dcémereach out tohte
Indian embassy for helghat his bedroom in the basement had a “truncated pipe” protruding
from the wall directl above his head where he slept, and that he could not speak English.

a. Salary

Defendants argu#hat plaintiff perjured himself by stating thélhe never received any
salary for any of the work he performed.” Defendantsstate the recordAlthough plaintiff
did state, as tranated, “I never got a salary,” (T115), in the part ofhe record cited by
defendantsplaintiff's full testimonywasas follows:

Q: When was the first time when you received ysalary Mr.Shukla?

A: | never got asalary. Maybe $50 when ltame back from India.

THE INTERPRETER: I'm sorry, your Honor, can | ask him to repeat theef?sw

THE COURT: Yes.

A: Well, after | made a demand when they came back from India and | askethéyr it
gave me $50.

Q: So, you are telling us that was the only compensation you got or that will be the only
salary which you will receive?



A: Well, the first time that is all | got.

Q: After their return, did you ever get any other monies paid bygmptoyers for your
salary?

A:  Well, every month they would give me $50 from 2000 onwards. From 2001
onwards, they raised to {eic] 100. After about a year, let's say, in 2001, they for the
first time sent some money to my home.

Q: Do you recall what was the amount?

A: Well, that will convert to something like one Lakh of Indian Rupees at thrermyr
value at that time.

Q: Do you know how many dollars it would make 100,000 Indian Rupees?

A: At that time, as far as | recall, the rate at ttiae was about 42, 43 Rupees to a
dollar.

THE COURT: How much money did they send to your family?

THE WITNESS: One Lakh, a hundred thousand Rupees, the first time.

Q: So would it be correct to state that after a year your family receiyedxapately
$2,2007?

A: By that math, yes.

(Tr. 115-116).

As the above cited testimony showdaintiff testified that hedid receive somesalary His

testimony waghat he did not receive any salalfirst, but that subsequenthe recered $50

per math and later $100 penonth personally, with an additional $2,20€r year being sent to

his family.

Defendants note thgilaintiff testified at his deposition that his family had received

949,000 rupees, which, by their calculation, equaled roughly $20,100. By contrast, $2,200 per

year for seven yeaexjuals$15,400. The Court does ndind this disparity troublinghowever,
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especially in light of the qualification “approximatély Moreover, elsewhere inplaintiff’'s
testimony, he stated that his famityIndia received approximately $20,000. (Tr. 225).

b. “Mortally Scared” to Contact the Indian Embassy

Defendants argue thataintiff perjured himself by testifying that he was too “mortally
scared” to reach out to the Indian embassy for help. Defendants argpkithi#f’s testimony
must be perjuretiecause he digventuallycontact the Indian embassy in 200Mhis logic is not
persuasiveThe fact thafplaintiff finally mustered the courage to contact the embassy does not
mean that he was not aframldo soat an earlier point in time.

c. Truncated Pipe

Next, defendardg argue thaplaintiff perjured himself by testifying that there was a
“truncated pipe” in his basement bedroom, protruding from the wall directly above his hea
wherehe slept. Defendants have submitted an affidavit from Theodore Wagner, vesthstat
he is a licensed master plumb#rat he installed plumbing in the basement of the Ashram in
1993,and that no pipes were installed in any room other than the kitchen and bati{dein.
Mot., Ex. A.) Wagner affirms that he inspected the premises on January 6, 2011, anthatate
“there has been no alteration to the plumbing in the Temple’s cellar sintallyimstalled it in
1993.” (d.) Defendants also submit an affidavit from Mario Amtpé®esawho states that he
worked on the Ashram in 1994. (Defs. Mot., Ex. Bgs#® stated that “there is no indication that
any plumbing work was performed on Mr. Shukla’s room in the basement.” (Defs. Mot.,)Ex. B

To begin with,defendarg have proffered no reason why the testimon¥aigner and
Pesa could not have been introduced at trdltrial, defendarg did in fact introduce testimony
from Willie Pearson, a “handyman, carpenter, [and] plumber,” (Tr. 528), vdtified that he

had performed reprs at theTemplesince 1999 (Tr. 529), that he hadited theplaintiff’'s room
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(Tr. 530), and that he had never seen the pipes depicted in the pictures introdptadtiffy
(Tr. 531.) Hefurther testified, however, th&e had observed damage on the walplaintiff’s
bedroom indicating that the wall had been ‘@itthe front where I'm thinking the head of the
bed would be. Like on the pictures where you saw the pipes coming out.” (Tr. 544-45).

The affidavits provided bydefendard indicate that at the time renovations were
performed in 19934, no plumbing was inalled inplaintiff’s bedroom, and that when Wagner
and Pesa returned in January 2@idre had been no change to theirkvofhe affidavits do not
establish however, thathere had never beenpipein plaintiff’s bedroom Indeed, the fact that
Pearson saw damage to the wall whpl&ntiff had indicated the pipes were located could
indicate that pipes had been removadd the wall @mtched up. And in any eventeven if
Wagneils and Pesa’s testimony enre persuasive, defendanthave not explained why these
statements, having never been subjected to adversarial testing, should be considerglutyso we
as to warrant a new trial.

In sum, the Court does not find that this dispute over the truncated pipe rendered the
resultseriously erroneous or a miscarriage of justice.

d. English Language Skills

Finally, defendarg argue thaplaintiff’s reliance on a translator at trial was “perjaty
worst and grossly misleading at best.” (Tr-119. Defendants base this assertion on a DVD
video of a prayer service submitted to the Court in wipieimtiff conducted prayein English
(Def. Mot., Ex. D). They also providget another podtrial affidavit, this timefrom Dolsi Sen,
who states that he is a devote¢hat Ashram, that he has knowptaintiff since he arrived in the
United Sates, and that he has obserypdaintiff writing in English, speaking English during a

prayer at Sen’s house, translating for his sisters, who do not speak &tadexplaining
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religious concepts to them in Englis(Def. Mot., Ex. D).

The fact thatplaintiff has some English language facility, however, would not indicate
that plaintiffwas so fluent in Englisthat a translator was not required at trial. With respect to
the DVD,clerics in many faiths conduct services in languages in which they would notelie abl
testify. And other evidence in the record corroborates phaintiff’s Engligh language skillsra
somewhat limited. Priy&ahani Sood testified that she gal&intiff weekly English lessons for
a period of time, but that this ended abruptly in 2004 wiaimtiff stoged contacting her. (Tr.
512-14). Sood further testified that when she aidintiff speak now, she tries to force him to
speak English and “felt good that he’s learning a little Englisht? $16. The testimony of
another devotee, Aresh Sahamdicatesthat plaintiff lackedEnglishlanguage skillsat least as
late as 2005, (Tr. 415), contradicting testimony that he could speak English at the amed
in the United States.

The Court finds thatlefendardg have not submitted evidence showing eitherplzantiff
perjured himself by using a translator, or that such use wésaahisg.

2. Counsel’s Failure to Introduce Certaifevidence

Defendants nexargue that they are entitled to a new trial becausgialf counsel’s
failure to introduce certain evidenc8pecifically, theyargue thatheir trial counsel should have
introduced “voluminous construction contracts, invoices, receipts, and checks to pay for
construction work that the Sharmas had done on their various properties betwe€@®@D00
(Def. Br. 20), testimony from an expert witness as to the typical duties ofda lgriest, and
“evidence thaplaintiff had at least four more email addresses than the one he acknowledged at
trial.” Additionally, defendarg argue that trial counsel “failed to introduce into evidence an

invoice indicating thamikitivari@hotmail.comordered penis enlargement [p]ills.” (Defs. Br.
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20.)

As an initial matter, éfendants haveot established that theayay attack the jury’s
verdict on the ground that their trial counsel decidetl to advancecertain evidence Civil
litigants are “held accountable for the acts and omissions of their chosesel.”Pioneer Inv.

Servs. Co. v. Brunswick Assocs. Ltd. P'ship, 507 U.S. 380, (1993);see alsoHoodho v.

Holder, 558 F.3d 184, 192 (2d Ci2009) (“[A] party who voluntarily chose an attorney as his
representative in an action cannot avoid the consequences of the acts or omigbisriseafly
selected agent.” (internal quotation marks, citatadterationsomitted)). Put simply,defendarg
cite no case in whicla court found that an attorney’s allegedly unreasonable decisibto
introduce certain evidence requra new trial. Second, everassumingsome egregious
oversight by counsel would warrant a new triidfendants haveot made such a showing.

a. ConstructionRecords

Counsel’s failure to introduce “construction contracts, invoices, receipts, ankisdoec
pay for construction work that the Sharmas had done on their various propertienlizdd@e
20077 did not result in a seriously erroneous result or a nniagarof justice. Defendants argue
that such documents would relpléintiff’s claims that the Sharmas took him out of the Ashram
to perform construction work late at night. They reason“thtie Sharmas were already paying
trained professionals to do that work, they lack any motive to have an untrainediigeagbrm
those same serviceg(Def. Mot. 20.) It is not inconceivable, however, thd¢fendard paid
professionals to perform some work, while attempting to save monggeed the process by
requiring plaintiff to performother work. The documents in question wotkidreforenot even

contradictplaintiff's testimony.
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b. Expert Witness Testimony

Defendants next complain thabunsel did not introduce evidence from an expert
witness. Defendants argue that becaysaintiff testified that certain tasks made him miserable
or were performed only baase defendastequired it, trial counsel should have called an expert
witness o the duties of Hindu priests wheould have testified that the tasks in question were
not unusual. Defendants provide an affidavit from Pardeep Sharma, who states that he is a
Hindu priest and who further states tketks such as cleaning deities, uigjtdevoteeshomes,
and conducting services until late at night are standard for Hindu priestsM@efEx. H.)

The fact that certain taslkege frequentlyperformed by Hidu priests does not show that
plaintiff was not forced to perform them through threats of serious harm or the abusd of lega
process.And although the testimony from an expert withesight have aided the jury in
evaluatingplaintiff’'s testimony, this Court is left only to speculatsoutpreciselyhow helpful it
would have beeto defendars case Perhaps counsel concluded that such testimony would not
stand up to cross-examination, or that it might contain other revelations thdtawonrdore harm
on balance. The absence of @mded expert testimony, considered in the abstract, is not enough
to warrant a new trial.

c. Email Addresses and Penis Enlargenteifis

Trial counsek failure to introduce evidence thatlaintiff had more han one email
address and thataintiff used one email address torghase “penignlargemenpills” also dd
not lead to a seriously erroneous result or a miscarriage of jusibmfendants argue that this
evidence would rebuplaintiff’s allegation that he was too “mortally scared” to leave the
Ashram. Apparently, defendarg’ argument is that iplaintiff was too scared to leave the

Temple he should also have been too scared to ayeewnal material, like penis enlargement
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pills.

Even if this logically followed, defendants did submit evidence showingtaetiff had
ordered pornographic movies, (Tr. 56dhd calledsexually explicit(900) phone numberqTr.
78182, 784). Accordingly, even if the email addresses ampenis enlargement pillswere
somehow relevant, ith evidencewould be little more thasumulative The jury obviously was
not persaded that this type of evideneendermined plaintiff's claims. A new trial is not
warranted on this basis.

3. Trial Counsel's CrossExamination

Defendants argue that a new trialvarrantedoecause trial counsel “failed to adequately
crossexamire the plaintiffon the inconsistencies betweelaiptiff's trial testimony and his
deposition.”(Def. Br. 21.) Defendants do not indicate precisghich depositiontestimony
coursel should have crosxaminedlaintiff about Defendantslo make refereneto their prior
argument abouplaintiff's allegedy perjured testimony.But the only arguable inconsesicy
noted in this sectiobetweerplaintiff’'s depositiorand trialtestimony involved the amount of his
salary. As already stated, it is not clear that such statements were incéandistent or ven
misleading. Even assumirdgfendarg could move for a new trial on this ground, the Court
finds that trial counsel'srossexamination did not lead to a seriously erroneous resuét or
verdictthat is a miscarriage of justice

4. Plaintiff's Credibility

Defendants next attack the verdict on the groundplaantiff’s testimonywas generally
not credible. They point to arges of facs that they believe severely undermptaintiff’s claim
that he was “mortally scarédFirst, they argue that plaintiff's claim that he was afraid to call for

help on the phone because he believed Geeta Sharma was eavesdropping is unbgrfa)ned

16



his admission that he did not think she listened to every phone call; (b) that he did not know how
Geeta Sharma was recording his phone calls; and (c) that he had at least onedegssil sal he

could have emailed for helgsecond they argue thagplaintiff’'s claim that he was scared to call

for help is undermined by the fact thpd&intiff did indeed complain about some of the conditions

in the Temple to another devotee, Arish Sahani, who testified at trial. Third, rinesy that
plaintiff’'s alleged fear to go to the Indian Embassy is undermined by the fact that he did in fact
go to the U.S. Attorney’s Office and the police, and that surely he would have been more
comfortable going to the Indian Embassy given his English languageedefjci

Fouth, defendarst complain that it is implausible thptaintiff would report his sten
passport to the authoritidmit not also tell them that he was subjectai@ed labor. Fifth, they
again argue that ordering adult films and dialing (900) sex numberherently inconsistent
with being subjected to forced labor. Sixth, they arguethi®atact thaplaintiff, according to his
testimony was aware of the “freedoms and liberty” available in the United States makes it
implausible that he would be scared to seek help. And lastly, they argymaihtff’'s decision
finally to leave the Temple was in fact motivated by the installation of a sewantyera
designed to thwart his independent astrology business.

These inconsistencies are not nearly as damnidgfasdarg suggest.Each is targeted
primarily at one isolated (and translated) phraSmortally scared—which defendarst
apparently take gslaintiff's assertion thate was at all times between 208312007 paralyzed
with fear. The Court does not find the phrase “mortally scaredyen comparedvith the
remainder of plaintiff’s testimony, sotroubling. Indeed, the purportedly uncomfortable
inconsistencies pointed to lolefendard could just as easilye seen as forthright qualifications

of plaintiff’s assertion of “mortal fear.” The jury, appalgntead them this way, for dredited
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plaintiff’s testimony. The Court sees no reason to upset the jury’s considered judgment.

5. Weight of the Evidence

Defendants next ground for a new trial is that trexdict is against theveight of the
evidence. It is weltecognized that a district court has discretion to order a new trial on this

ground.Byrd v. Blue Ridge Rural Elec. Gap, Inc, 356 U.S. 525, 540 (1958). Defendants

argue (a) that two witnesses splaintiff with his passport at certain times and that two others
saw the pssport in thefTemplewith statwes of Hindu deities; (b) thg@laintiff’'s room was larger
than he alleged, that he had another living quarters, and that no pipe was protruding from the
wall; and (c) thatplaintiff was paid for his work because he signed a ledger each month
indicating that he had received his salayd that his family in India did indeed receive their
half of his salay.

These arguments are little more than recagituhs of those discussed above, agdin
the evidence pointed to byefendard is far lesscompelling than they suggest.As to the
passport, none of the individuals who allegedly g#aintiff’s passporprovided drect evidence
that it was in facplaintiff’'s passport. As to plaintiff’s living quarters, another witness, Priya
Sood, corroborateglaintiff’s estimate on the size of the room, (Tr. 516), and Ron Luther’s
assertion thaplaintiff had another apartment upstairs was mostly surmise (Tr. 608). And as to
whetherplaintiff received a salary, thdefendarg’ circumstantial evidence is simply not enough
to upset the jury’s decision thallaintiff’s accountat trial was the truthful one.

6. Jury’s Verdict

Finally, defendarg arguethat a new trial is required because the jury’s verdicts are
internally inconsistent. The jury found by a preponderance of the evidenckefeatarg had

committed forced labor in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1589 drad traffickedplaintiff for
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involuntary servitude or forced labor, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1590. The jury also found,
however, thaplaintiff libeled defendarg by making oral statements to Kathianne Bonniello of
the New York Post and George Josephindia Abroad, which were subsequently published by
those newspapers, including:

o Defendants kepplaintiff as a slaveisce 2000,repeatedly toldplaintiff “this is what
happens to people with brown skin,” and showed news clipping&itatiff of terraists
jailed at Guantanamo Bay;

e Defendants, since 2000, forcphthintiff to work 16hour days, forbade him from leaving
the Ashram, and constantly threatehed physically and emotionally.

Although a party may challenge inconsistent general verdicts on the groundlefjad a

error in the trial court’s jury instructioﬁsggeJarvis v. Ford Motor Co., 283 F.3d 33, 56 (2d Cir.

2002), many courts haveexpressed doulwhetherthe inconsistencyf a civil verdictitself is

grounds for a new trialln re Vivendi Universal Sec. Litig.765 F.Supp.2d 512, 554 n.33

(S.D.N.Y. 2011) (collecting cases}ompareZhang v. American Gem Seafoods, Inc., 339 F.3d

1020, 1035 (& Cir. 2003) (“We have found no Supreme Court or Ninth Circuit case in which an
appdlate court has directed the trial court to grant a new trial due to inconsestdretween
general verdicts, and Ninth Circuit precedent dictates that we cannot doMerthant v.
Ruhle 740 F.2d 86, 91 &1 Cir. 1984) (“We subscribe. .to a substatial reluctance to consider

inconsistency in civil jury verdicts a basis for new trialsMalm v. U.S. Lines Co., 269

F. Supp.731, 73132 (S.D.N.Y. 1967) (“Inconsistent jury verdicts upon different counts or
claims are not an anomaly in the law, whathiimes recognizes a jury’s right to an idiosyncratic
position, provided the challenged verdict is based upon the evidence and the wath.”),

Diamond Shamrock Corp. v. Zinke & Trumbo, Ltd91 F.2d 1416, 1423 (ft® Cir. 1986)

2 Defendants do not assert that the Court’s jury instruction was &orcould they, because any such objection is
waived by their failure to object tbe instructions before the jury retired to deliber8eeJarvis v. Ford Motor Co.
283 F.3d 33, 56 (2d Cir. 2002) (“Objection to an inconsistency between two geneliatsvéhat is traced to an
alleged error in the jury instruction or verdict shegbrisperly made under Fed. R. Civ. P. 51,” but “a party must
object before the jury retires to deliberate.”)
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(recognizing that faciallyjnconsistent general verdicts may be grounds for a new Wall)y.

Comprehensive Accounting Corp., 776 F.2d 665, 677 & ntbQif. 1985) (same).

In any event, it is clear to this Court that itldes have the authority to order a new trial
on this ground, it also has the duty to “adopt a view of the case, if there is onesdhas@any

seeming inconsistency.Cf. Brooks v. Brattleboro Mem'l Hosp., 958 F.2d 525, 529 (2d

Cir.1992);Munafo v. Metro. Transit Auth., 381 F.3d 99, 105 (2d Cir. 2004 justify setting

aside an otherwise valid jury verdict, theesl verdict answers must beneluctably
inconsistent.”)

The jury’s verdicts are not without tensiohut the Court finds that they can be
harmonized. First, althoughtrafficking and forced labor areften described as “modern

slavery,” e.g. United States Dep’t of State, What is Modern Slavdnitp:/www.state.gov/

g/tip/what/index.htm(last visitedJanuary 22, 2012), a reasonable juror's conception of slavery

may notbe perfectly congruent wittihe conduct proscribed by the TVPAAs defendarg point
out, a “slave” is traditionally understood as “a person held in servitude[;] one thatakdttel of

another,”"Webster’s Third New International Dictiona®139(3d ed.1986). The latter half of

this definitionconnoteghe atrocity of holding an individual as propertygracticesadlyfamiliar
to anyone with even a passing knowledge of American history, and one that continuesgeday,

United States Dep’t of Statdrafficking in Persons Report 2011, at 19 (2011), available at

http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/164452.§ieople are bought and sold as

commodities within and across borders to satisfy demand from BlyeBut liability under
81589 does not requirthat the victim be the defendant’s chattel. That is, liability does not
require that the victim be the defendant’s property in the sense that he was plichase

defendants or that he could have been marketed or soleféydard to another.The jury could
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have seized on this distinction in rendering its verdicts.

Accordingly, defendants are not entitled to a new trial.

II. Motion for a New Trial as to Damages, or for Renitittr

Defendants also challenge the damage awards in this case. As explained abowe, the jur
awarded compensatory damages of $250,000.00 total on the forced labor claim, compensatory
damages of $750,000.a0tal on the trafficking claim, and punitive damage awards on the
trafficking claim of $750,000.00 against both Geeta and Sat Sharma and $1 million dgainst t
Ashram. Defendants argue that the compensatory damage av§2%13,000.00 for the forced
labor claim and $750,000.00 for the trafficking clatare duplicative of each otheand that, in
any event, both the compensatory and punitive damage awards are excessive. THeeSour
not find that the compensatory damage awards are duplicative or excessiveeduindo
remittitur appropriate on the punitive damage awards.

1. Duplicative Compensatory Damages

Defendants argue that the Court must conduct a new trial on damages because the
“‘compensation for the alleged violation of the forced labor statute essentially resaepefor
the same injuries that were the result of the alleged violation of the traffickingest§ef. Br.
40). For threeeasonslefendants’ argument fails.

First, despite ample opportunitgdefendarg did not object to the jury instruction or
verdictform, nor did they object to the jury’s verdict after it was rendered and before the jury

was discharged. Their objection is therefore waiBsBseirani v. Mashie, 1997 WL 3632, at

*1 (2d Cir. 1997) (“By not objecting to the instructions .or requesting that the jury be
guestioned before being discharged, [defendant] has waived the argument thatahesdaira

duplicative”).
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Second, e Court specificallyvarned the jury not to duplicate its award:

[Y]ou should not award compensatory damages more than once for the same
injury. For example, if a plaintiff were to prevail on two claims and estahlis

one dollar injury, you could not award him one dollar cengatory damages

on each claim-he is only entig#d to be made whole again, not to recover
more than he lost. Of course, if different injuries are attributed to theasepar
claims, then you must compensate him fully for all of the inju(iBs.1222).

Accordingly, the Court’s instruction was not impges.

Third, there is at least “a hypothetical scenario on which the damages are not
duplicative,” see Bseiranj 1997 WL 3632, at *2. As the jury was instructed, the
trafficking claim involves the extra requirement that the defendant “harbdred/idtim.

As such, the jury could have rationally split the harms for forced labor andknadfi
into those flowing from the services obtained throdgfendantstompulsion and those
flowing from the conditions of harboring which plaintiff was subjectedyoth of which
were supprted by record evidenceThis would explain why the two compensatory
damageawards were not the samalues as one might expect if the jury had considered
the injuries for both counts to be the same.

This is not a casean which one, indivisible injury is compensable through
alternate legal theories. Accordingly, even défendats have not waived their
duplication argument, the Court is confident that its instruction properly wanegdry

and that, at worstthe jury rationally dividedseveralyears’ of harm across somewhat

overlapping claimsSeeBender v. City of New York78 F.3d 787, 794 (2d Cir. 1996)

(“In some cases, seemingly duplicative awards made separately for oveylappses of
action or against different defendants have been sustained where it appdatiesjthg

intended to award the aggregate sum.”).
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2. Amount of Compensatory Damages

Defendants next seek a new trialconditional remittitur. A district court may, consistent
with the Seventh Amendment, either order a new trial or order a conditionaltretditfiv[ing]
the plaintiff the choice of voluntayilremitting his award to a set lesser amount in lieu of a new

trial.” Thomas v. iStar Fin., Inc., 652 F.3d 141, 146 (2d Cir. 2011). “Where there is no particular

discernible error,” as is true here, “a jury’'s damage award may not be set aside awexces
unless the award is so high as to shock the judicial conscience and constitute a destiabof |

Kirsch v. Fleet Street, Ltd., 148 F.3d 149, 165 (2d Cir. 1998).

The Court’s instruction on compensatory damages was as follows:

The purpose of the law of damages is to award, as far as possible, just and fair

compensation for the loss, if any, which resulted from the forced labor or harboring of

the plaintiff. If you find that the defendant is liable on the claims, as | éapkined

them, then you must award the plaintiff sufficient damages to compensate lanyfor

injury proximately caused by the defendants’ conduct. These are known as

“compensatory damages.” Compensatory damages seek to make the plaingf#whol

that is, to compensate him for the damag#fered.Compensatory damageseanot

limited merely to expenses that plaintiff may have borne. A prevailing plaintiff is

entitled to compensatory damages for the pain and suffering, mental anguish, shock

and discomfort that he suffered because of a defendant’s conduct. (Tr. 1223-24).

Defendants are likely correct that most not all, of the $1 million compensatory

damage award in this case is for pain and suffenmgnal anguish, shock, and discomfort
becausethe record evidence would not otherwise support such a substantial rec\ery.
general mattersuch damagesclude “fright, nervousness, grief, anxiety, worry, mortification,
shock, humiliation, indignity, embarrassment, apprehension, terror, or ordeal.” 22 ArAd Jur
Damages 801. Courts and commentators have long recognized that “the law does not provide

a precise formula by which pain and suffering and emotional distress may beypropasurd

and reduced to monetary valu&ulkowska v. City of Newvork, 129 F.Supp.2d 274,308

(S.D.N.Y. 2001), andhe Second Circuit has indicated its willingness “to uphold substantial
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damage awards [for mental distress] where warrantsohail v. Cohen, 899 F.2d 183, 187 (2d

Cir. 1990).
To determine whether an award is excessilie Court must “look to other awards in

similar cases” to ensure that the award is “within reasonable ra8opkdv v. Americor, Ing.

419 F.App’x 86, 93 (2d Cir. 2011)As defendarg point outthe TVPA's civil cause of action is
too new to have generated a body of case law on daavegels. Defendantsffer the Court

two non-TVPA cases as reference points. In the figthramm v. Long Island R.R Co., 857

F. Supp.255 (E.D.N.Y. 1994), the court held that a $232,500.00 award for pain and suffering
was excessive. The plaintiff haddn struck in the head with a tree limb through the defendant’s
negligence. He suffered a concussion and ongoing symptoms related tecdiposssion
syndrome,” and he testified that his condition prevented him from fully enjoyingehisid. at

258. In the second case cited dgfendarg, DiSorbo v. Hoy, 343 F.3d 172 (2d Cir. 2008)¢e

Second Circuit reduced a damage award of $400,000.00 to $250,0@0.680.18586. The
plaintiff in that case sustained serious physical and psychological injuryrasult of the
defendants’ use of excessive force and battdry.

These casesvhich involve serious injury or indignityre not wholly unhelpful, and the

Court has identifiegimilar federal and state cases with awards in a similar r&@egBender v.

City of New York 78 F.3d 787, 792 (2d Cir. 1996) ($150,000 for blow to the mouth with no
lasting physical injury, 24 hours’ confinement, the pendency of criminal progseftn six

months, and sleep problem§ardner v. Federated Dept. Stores,,|80.7F.2d 1348, 1353 (2d

Cir. 1990) ($150,000 for psychiatric issues including personality change arisingfdisen

imprisonment and battery by department store security guard); BedrivA&th. Of N.Y. &

N.J, 561 N.Y.S.2d 416 €&t Dep’t 1990) ($100,000 for 3.5 hour detention and humiliation in
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front of family).
Another helpful line of casesontainsawards in a slightly higher range for mental

anguish resulting from lengthy and concerted harassi8erflown of Hempstead v. State Div.

of Human Rights, 649 N.Y.S. 2d 942 (2d Dep’'t 1996) ($500,000 for nine months of extreme

sexual harassmenfliffany & Co. v. Smith, 638 N.Y.S.2d 454€tIDep’t 1996) ($300,000 under

state human rights law for “constant, egregious, and blatant conduct”); QuinnsauNagunty

Police Dep’t 53 F.Supp.2d 347, 362 (E.D.N.Y. 1999) ($250,000 for nine years’ sexual
orientation discrimination, including tormenting plaintiff with pornographic cart@masmaking

antirgay remarks)Hughes v. Patrolmen’8enev. Ass'n of City of N.Y.,rc, 850 F.2d 876

(1988) ($225,000 for sustained harassment and adverse employment decisions over a period of
two years.

Based on these two lines of cases, the Court cannot conclude that the jury’s $1 million
verdict was unreasonableThe plaintiff in this case was subject to the conduct for which
defendarg are liable for far longer than in the line of cases citeddigndarg, which generally
involve discrete, relatively brief incidents. The jury in this case predonynantrded pain and
suffering camages not for proximate symptoms that degrade one’s enjoyntbetreimainder of
life—conditions like postraumatic stress disordeibut for the humiliation, indignity, and
ordeal directly inflicted over threendonehalf years of compelled labor. Adadingly, one
would expecpain and sufferinglamagesn this casdo be substantially higher than the several
hundred thousand dollar awards in the first line of cases.

And one would also expect a larger award here than in the second line of casespwhich d
involve a longer course of conduct by the defendants. That is because the harred inylict

even extreme workplace harassment, although obviously serious, are not as grave as the
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extraordinary indignity of compelled labor. Even if the jurgward wasfor only pain and
suffering mental anguish, shock, and discomftot the roughly 1300 days oflefendard’
conduct, compensation would work out to under $800 per day. Given the difficulty of affixing a
mathematical value teuch injuries, the Court cannot find that this result is unreasonable.

3. Amount of Punitive Damages

Finaly, defendarg move for a new trial or remittit@s to the jury’s $2.5 milliomward
of punitive damages. As with compensatory damages, courts must not disturb aguly aw

unless it “shocks the judicial conscience.” Paterson v. Balsam® F.3d 104, 120 (2d Cir.

2006). This inquiry is guided by the three factors identified by the Supreme C&Mwih of

North America., Inc. v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 575 (1996): “(1) the degree of reprehensftittiey

tortious conduct; (2) the ratiof punitive damages to compensatory damages; and (3) the
difference between this remedy and the civil penalties authorizéshpmsed in comparable
cases.” In additiomo the Gorefactors, district courts must consider the financial circumstances
of the defendantsPaterson 440 F.3d at 121. As the Second Circuit has recognized, “one
purpose of punitive damages is deterrennd, that deterrence is directly related to what people
can afford to pay.1d. at 122. Accordingly, a punitive damage award that “result[s] in the
financial ruin of the defendant” cannot stand.

The first Gore factor, the reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct, is “[p]erhaps the
most important indicium of the reasonableness of a punitive damages aarg.517 U.S. at
575. This “reflects the accepted view that some wrongs are more blamethamhothers.’ld.
Forced laboris, of course, extremelseprehensible. This would ordinarily favor a very large
punitive damage award. But this casensuausuabne, because hethe jury found both that

defendarg were liable foforced laborand trafficking and thaplaintiff had libeleddefendants.
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This result can be reconciled only by concluding that the jury found each elenfemtedf labor
and trafficking satisfied, bufound that plaintiffs description of defendants conduct as
“enslavement” was overstated to the point thatjured defendarg. Given this, the firsGore
factor does not weighsstrongly in favor of the $2.5 million awags it otherwise might

The secondsorefactor is the ratiof punitive to compensatory damages, which in this
case is 2.5:1. Th8upremeCourt has beefreluctant to identify concrete constitutiaiimits”

for the ratio of punitive to compensatatgmagesState Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell

538 U.S. 408, 424 (2003)It has recognized that an important consideration in determining
whether the ratio is permissible in a given case is the size of the compemsat@ge award.

Id. at 425. That is, although a higher ratio may be appropriate where “a pastiegeegious

act has resulted in only a small amount of economic damé&@efen compenatory damages

are sibstantial, then a lesser ratgerhaps only equal to compensatory damages, can reach the
outermost limit of the due process guararitégh. The $1 million compensatory damage award

in this case igjuite substantial. As such, the 215:atio seemsexcessive and 1:1 ratio would

appear moreappropriate.See Thomasyv. iStar Fin., Ing. 652 F.3d 141, 146 (2d Cir. 2011)

(affirming district court’'s conclusion that 1:1 ratio was appropriate becatissibstantial
$190,000 compensatory dangagward).

The third Gore factor considershe “difference between this remedy and civil penalties
authorized or imposed in comparable cases.” Just as above, this inquiry is a difficultanrsebe
of the dearth of reported awards under the TVPA. But the Court cannot find|eamiff has
not cited,analogousase law imposing a punitive damage award as enorrooth generally
and in proportion to the compensatory damage awaslthat returned by the jury herdhe

sorts of harassment and discriminatierdictsthat the Court used as reference points above
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generally impose punitive damage awards in the range of $50,000 to $3(®e@@tiz-Del

Valle v. National Basketball Ass'm2 F.Supp.2d 334 (S.D.N.Y. 1999) (remitting $7,000,000

award to $250,00); Tse v. UBS Fin. Servs., Inc., 568 $upp.2d 274 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)

(remitting $3,000,000 award to $300,000); Manzo v. Sovereign Motor Cars, Ltd., 2010 WL

1930237 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (upholding $200,000 awasge alsdrhomas v. iStar Fin., Inc., 508

F. Supp.2d 252, 263 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (noting $50,000689D0,000 punitive damage cap in Title
VII claims). Accordingly, even after accounting for the greater reprehensibiligeténdarg’
conduct in this case, a $2.5 million punitive damage avgarcessive.

Lastly, the Court must consider thefendarg’ financial ercumstancesAlthoughit is
true that “it is the defendant’s burden to show that his financial circumstancegntva
limitation of the award,’Paterson440 F.3d at 122, and althoutite evidence in the recomh
this issueis not extensive the Court thinksit is sufficientto establish that théndividual
defendard and the Ashrarareof modest means. Sat Sharma owns a construction business, is
the sole stockholder in another corporation calbeTemps, Inc. (the nature of the corporation’s
business does not appear in the record), and owns a@wdrtyin upstate New York. (Tr.
911). Geeta Sharma has no independent income. (Tr. 1018). The Ashram, for all it appears, ha
always struggledot remain afloat. (Tr. 796, 9923). In short, the Court has every reason to
believe that the massive punitive damage awards returned by the jury waa&fmancial ruin
to the individuadefendarg and the Ashram. In such circumstances, remittitapopriateld.
at 122.

In sum, theGore factors anddefendarg’ financial circumstances indicate that the $2.5
million award of punitive damages is excessivEhe awards against all threlefendarg are

reduced by $500,000. The result is a punitive damage award of $250,000 against Sat Sharma,;
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$250,000 against Geeta Sharma; and $500,000 against the Ashram. This aveatdirik/
sufficient to detesimilar conductby these or similarly situated individuabnd the resulting 1:1
ratio of punitive to compensatory damages comports with due proesstiff may either elect
to accept the remitted award or the Court will hold a new trigdwmtivedamages.
Conclusion
For the reasons stated above,

Defendants’ motion for judgment as a matter of lawsuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56
DENIED;

Defendant’s motion for a new trial on liability under Fed. R. Civ6®is DENIED;

Defendant’s motion for a new triah damagesinderFed. R. Civ. P59 is DENIED with
respect to the compensatory damage award and GRANTED with respect to the punitive
damage award unless plaintiff elects to accept a remitted punitive damage adward
$250,000 against Sat Sharma; $250,000 against Geeta Sharma; and $&0&i@ithe
Vishva Seva Ashram.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: February 14, 2012
Brooklyn, N.Y.

Is/
Carol Bagley Amon
Chief United StateBistrict Judge
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